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			Prologue

			“Which way?” I asked John.

			“I don’t know”, he replied, panic rising in his voice.

			“That way!!”

			The stentorian tones of Sergeant Major Tom Hutton boomed out as if from nowhere. We turned to see him sitting astride a camel, aggressively pointing along the path, the veins in his forehead standing out with the intensity of his shout. The signpost behind him indicated the direction of Egypt. We were at Burnham Beeches near Windsor!

			This surreal scene came from an extraordinary film we made for Blue Peter in 1969, and it remains in my mind as one of the high spots of my career, certainly one of the high spots of my time in the most successful children’s TV programme in the world.

			The film was called The Waiters’ Orienteering Race and the concept came from one of our assistant producers on the programme, Tim Byford. Earlier we had made an orienteering film with the aforementioned Tom Hutton and the members of the junior parachute regiment, and had also made films with John waiting at table to me and Valerie Singleton, both at the London Hilton and on a British Rail Express bound north out of King’s Cross station in London. So, quite naturally, The Waiters’ Orienteering Race was born.

			It involved five teams of two waiters – one pair from an Italian restaurant, one pair from the London Hilton, a pair of Bunny Girls from the Playboy Club, a pair from the Army catering corps, and, of course, John Noakes and I making up the numbers. Sergeant Major Hutton was in charge, and the race involved us navigating round various locations and at each checkpoint performing some odd catering task. To be honest it was quite insane – we had to serve a fillet steak at a table in a clearing, and soup to an eccentric couple (one knitting her spaghetti, whilst her companion played the flute) at a table sited on the edge of the lake at Virginia Water. We got lost a number of times, but Tom was always on hand to both terrify and chivvy us along. On one occasion he appeared out of an old hollow tree, and another time hurtled through the woods on a bicycle, like the wicked witch on her broomstick, before crashing headlong into the lake itself. 

			Don’t ask me what the point was, or who won. All I can say is that it was hilarious to make, and when it was transmitted, I got home that evening to find a household in hysterics. My children and some friends had been watching with my wife, and they all thought it was wonderful. The best reaction I ever received from friends and family for a film made on the programme.

			It was also an absolute watershed, because it was when John and I seriously fell out.

			But a lot of water had flown under the bridge before that sad moment was reached, and a lot had still to flow after it, so I’d better begin at the beginning.

		

	


	
		
			Chapter One

			Earliest memories; The move to Blackpool;

			First school days; First acting attempts;

			Holiday in London

			I was fortunate enough to have had an unfashionably happy childhood – no tales of abuse and drunkenness, no beatings and fears. Both my mother and father were what I would call the world’s nicest people. My father’s family came from Preston, and my mother’s from Newcastle-upon-Tyne. I have some early memories that have stayed with me of my very young life. I can remember the kitchen of my grandparents’ house in New Longton, near Preston, and sitting on my grandfather’s lap in a rocking chair in front of the old kitchen range, and listening to the ticking of his fob watch that he kept in the pocket of his waistcoat. It is my earliest memory, and must predate my first birthday, since my grandfather, John Purves, died when I was 11 months old. I have a number of other memories of that house, The Shieling, playing in the garden on several occasions, and some wartime memories of bombing raids on both Preston and Liverpool. Actually my clearest memory of that time was when staying at my Uncle Alan’s house in Houghton, where Alan was the police sergeant, watching the fires over Preston when the docks were bombed, before being bundled under the stairs for safety. 

			I can remember the trains at the crossing in the village, and the Monkey Puzzle tree outside the small parade of shops near the station. I also remember happy playtimes with two or three of the village children – my dad had created a good size sand-pit to the side of the house, bordering the field that I also recall being reaped by a big red tractor in what seems to me now like an ever sunny summer. This would have been 1941 or 1942, and I had been born in the February of 1939.

			I know that my mother struggled during the first three years of the war. My father, Kenneth, was a military tailor, working in Preston. As a diabetic since the age of 11, and one of the first to survive any length of time following the introduction of insulin, he had not gone to fight in the 1939-45 war, but was a member of Dad’s Army, the Home Guard. Florence, my mother made do on his none too great income, but she managed well enough. She also took in some refugee children from London, but they didn’t stay long, and I gathered later in life, that it had not been a happy experience, and mum was most relieved at their departure.

			Things changed for all of us in 1942, when my dad went into a partnership with a musician friend of his called Arthur Sharples, and between them they bought a hotel in Blackpool. Dad’s mother, my grandmother Elizabeth, now a widow, came to stay – permanently it transpired. Again I remember clearly my first sight of that wonderful seaside town. We drove over the railway bridge at Squires Gate, and there was not only the sea, but also the trams, the fabulous Blackpool trams in their cream and green paint. I was three and a half. The image is as clear today as it was when I first saw them. 

			I have to say that I have a real soft spot for Blackpool. I know that in many ways it is a catchpenny town, but it has an honesty about it, that says, “If you come here and pay your money you’ll have a really good time.” But that sort of good time was a long way off in those austere days of the war. 

			In 1942, The New Mayfair Hotel was the next to last hotel on the South Shore. After that there was some open land, and then you were at Squires Gate, and the RAF base that became Pontin’s Holiday Camp after the war. All of South Shore has been built up now, but then there was a lot of open space. In front of the hotel was a crescent shaped road, there were ornamental gardens laid to grass, then the main road, the tram tracks, and the south promenade itself, before the concrete sea wall with its steps down to the golden sands. I loved the sea at Blackpool, even though I now know it was absolutely filthy. But somehow that didn’t matter. The tide came in twice a day, just like magic and then went out again leaving the great expanse of beaches that extend for miles to both Fleetwood in the north and to the mouth of the Ribble Estuary in the south. The best playground in the world.

			But it was wartime. We all rushed out one day to the sea wall to watch as a German bomber ditched in the sea, and the Lifeboat, launched from its station by Central Pier, went out to rescue the crew, who could be seen clambering out of the cockpit onto the fuselage to await their fate. Our hotel was commandeered as a convalescent home for Polish airmen who had been injured during the fighting. I remember one chap in particular, whose upper body was almost totally encased in plaster. He was known as tin ribs, and he was quite happy to have me play wooden spoons on his chest, like a xylophone. I don’t think he spoke a word of English, and we spoke no Polish.

			The Black Market in food and provisions flourished in the town, and there was one memorable occasion when the revenue officers came round to check up on the hotels. Word got out in advance, and hoteliers all along the south shore could be seen carrying black market purchases across the promenade and dumping them over the wall into the sea. Apparently it wouldn’t have done for anyone to be caught with an illicit side of pork in the fridge. Sacrilege though.

			I started junior school just before the end of the war. Arnold School was reputedly the best school in the area, and it had both a junior and a senior school. So I began in the preparatory class at the age of five and a half. My first teacher was Miss Lamb – funnily enough I had a letter from her in 2006, the first contact since I left school. Miss Lamb was very important in my early school life, in fact right the way through junior school, because she was also the Cub mistress, Akela. Junior school was a real pleasure, the headmaster, Mr Beech, was a delightful man, and I remember him very well. Certainly as I got older, he was instrumental in my liking to read. He would read stories to us in the English class, Joseph Conrad, and Robert Louis Stevenson. He always made the stories exciting – choosing different voices and accents for the various characters and situations. Consequently I wanted to read the books for myself. I must say that I found Joseph Conrad pretty hard going by myself but in Mr Beech’s rendering he was the most exciting writer of all.

			As the war finished and things started to get back to a semblance of normality we were able to travel a bit more. My dad was still running his tailoring business in Preston and would leave early for work and get home late, so I saw little of him. The partnership in the hotel was not going too well and I gather there were some fairly acrimonious arguments, although I wasn’t involved and didn’t suffer from them. But mostly life was fun and there was always music. Arthur played the piano very well. In fact I believe he was a composer of some note at the time. My dad sang well, as did my grandmother, he a bass, she a contralto, and on occasion my Uncle Doug, on leave from the Army where he was a captain, was a fine tenor. Together they made wonderful live music and excellent impromptu concerts were given for the hotel guests and for the Polish airmen. 

			My mother’s family was a large one. She had been the daughter of a former miner in the North East, who gave up going down the pit to become an insurance salesman, and moved to a nice part of Newcastle, Jesmond. Floss, as she was known to one and all, was the fifth child of the family that ultimately was eight strong. My Uncle Will was her eldest brother, and lived near Tewkesbury in Gloucestershire. I only ever met him once. Jenny was next eldest and she became a teacher in Whitley Bay. Then came Belle who married the headteacher of a primary school in Pegswood. Her next brother Lionel died of cancer aged only 21. Floss was next, and then came the three boys, Charlie, Les and Don. 

			When Floss was 16, both her parents died, and she left school to look after the rest of the family. Will had moved away, so Jenny and Belle went out to earn the money, and the three boys had yet to grow up and get through school. So my mum became pretty good at looking after the others. Eventually, when the boys had grown up, she married a much older and very successful bookmaker, Will Gilhespie, who sadly died after only a short marriage in 1936. Will Gilhespie’s sister, Elizabeth, was married to my grandfather John Purves, and so Floss, through marriage, was my dad’s aunt. After a happy courtship Ken and Floss were married in 1938.

			My mum loved the cinema, my dad liked music and they both liked theatre. Actually, my dad had been a wonderful boy soprano. Three times he won best boy soloist at the Blackpool Music Festival, one of the prime singing competitions in the country in the 1920’s. He would also have won it a fourth time, but was convinced that his voice would have broken and he declined to enter. But his voice didn’t break, and he was singing even better than ever. The previous year he had been snapped up by a record label, not EMI because they had already signed a boy soprano called Ernest Lough, whose recording of Oh for the Wings of a Dove is still reckoned by many to be the yardstick by which other boy sopranos are measured. My family were convinced that the oft-played recording was by my dad. They were wrong, but his voice was exceptionally good. Woolworths owned dad’s record label, and his recording of Oh for the Wings of a Dove sold 350,000 copies. He was given a gramophone, no money!!! He regularly broadcast on the BBC during 1927-28 on a teatime show. Sadly his diabetes prevented him from taking to the stage as a full-time career after his voice did break to a fine bass. A musicologist Stephen Beet has recently compiled a book and remastered recordings onto CDs called The Better Land – a search for the Lost Boy Sopranos for which I wrote the foreword and in which my dad is featured.

			Blackpool in the summer was the Mecca for all variety of shows, second only to London in the number of shows and talented performers working there. There were theatres everywhere; two on the South Pier and one on both the Central and North Piers. The Opera House, the Winter Gardens, the Hippodrome, the Palace, the Grand, Redmans, numerous others and lots of movie houses. Not forgetting what was reckoned to be the best circus in Europe at the Tower. With all these outlets, it wasn’t surprising that I would want to explore as much as I could. I saw all the variety acts of the time, the circus every season, several plays, ice shows and children’s spectaculars. Life was such fun. And so far as I could remember, it never rained. 

			We had a sort of handyman who worked for us at the hotel, called Bill Plant. He also worked for The Tower Company where he had a job putting up posters around the town for lots of the movie houses and theatres. That meant that he had a smelly old van – it was smelly because of the glue or whatever the paste was that was used for putting up the posters. And he always had lots of them around. He also changed the publicity pictures in the foyers of some of the cinemas. He gave me many sets of these pictures, but sadly I never kept any of them. I didn’t collect anything as a child, but I really wish I’d kept a collection of old publicity stills and movie posters from the 40’s. They would have been worth a fortune today. I remember Bill very fondly – he would drive me to school a couple of days a week and I always liked that – no one else turned up at school in such a high profile vehicle. It had three frames on each side with posters in them and one big frame that had the poster for the show that week at the Grand Theatre. He also cooked a mean breakfast.

			I mustn’t forget the happy times I had away from Blackpool in those summers of the 1940’s. I would regularly travel by train up to Northumberland to stay with one or other of my aunts and uncles. There were three places I stayed most. One was Pegswood, near Morpeth where I stayed with my Auntie Belle and Uncle Dodds in the School House. My cousin Angela was less than a year older than I so we had good times together, walking in Bothel Woods, and wondering if we would meet the hermit who reputedly lived there. Dodds was a fabulous gardener, and looked after the school garden, so there was always good fresh food and fruit that I would pick with him. We would take lovely picnics to the beaches at Whitley Bay, or Cullercoats, or up the coast towards Blyth and Seaton Sluice. After the war, these weren’t just ordinary picnics, but feasts in wicker baskets – homemade pies, boiled eggs, tomatoes, fruit, jellies and blancmanges, and proper china plates and cutlery. Then I would stay with lovely Auntie Jenny in Shiremoor, a stone’s throw from Whitley Bay. The Spanish City at Whitley Bay was a great amusement park, mind you after the Pleasure Beach at Blackpool everything is second rate, but Jenny would take me there and indulge me with multiple rides on the Helter Skelter and the Dodgems. Jenny, who never married, became the family traveller, going abroad every year at a time when not many people did that. And occasionally I would go north to Scremerston, just south of Berwick upon Tweed, where my Uncle Les and Auntie Sadie lived. There were three cousins there, Fraser, who is my age, Dorothy a couple of years younger, and the baby, Donald. Naturally I spent most of my time with Fraser, whom I considered very sophisticated – he could change an electric plug! We would cycle down to the coast where there were great rock pools, and we’d swim, but the water was absolutely freezing, even on the hottest day. We would get back to the house almost blue from the cold on some occasions, to be warmed up by one of my Auntie Sadie’s super meals. It was great fun and I guess I took after my mum a little, in that she had always swum in the sea, on that northeast coast every day of the year, at places like Seaton Sluice, even having to break the ice on the shoreline. And when seawater freezes, you know it is cold. 

			They were lovely years. Trips to the open air baths in St Annes, journeys on the trams up to Fleetwood and across the little ferry to Knot End and back. Again, I can’t remember the rain, only glorious sunshine day after day. Once, when Jenny came to stay she took me over to the Isle of Man on the Tynwald out of Fleetwood. That was the first time I had seen seawater that wasn’t full of muddy silt – you could actually see to the bottom, even in Douglas Harbour. The delightful little horse-drawn trams plied up and down the promenade, and I gather still do today. I was eight. 

			Sometimes my mum and dad would take me up to the Lake District from Blackpool, where we would meet up with Dodds, Belle and Angela at places like Tarn Hows and Grasmere for another stupendous picnic. And on one fabulous summer’s day we met up with them at Ulpha Bridge on the Duddon Valley, where there is a deep pool and lots of stepping-stones. After swimming in the icy waters of the river, nothing tasted quite so good as my mother’s picnic of bacon and egg pie, washed down with lemonade. I truly loved all of those aunts and uncles and cousins who made my childhood so completely happy and it is sad that, apart from the cousins, none remain. 

			There was one presence unforgettable throughout all of these early years – my grandmother. I can’t recall times when my mum and dad were able to be alone; in fact many years later when she was dying, my mother said it was the biggest regret of her life that Elizabeth had come to stay. My dad, the youngest of the Purves family took her on board and clothed and fed her for the rest of her life, with no support from his two brothers and one sister. They just let him get on with it, and so my poor mother shared her life with her mother-in-law. I understand that she lent my dad £1000 to buy the Blackpool hotel, and I guess he felt obliged to her. I can’t remember a complaint, but there must have been some. But as good, caring parents, they shielded me from it and I must admit that my grandmother was always very kind and loving towards me. As I grew up, she would take an interest in my singing and helped me to develop what became a good soprano voice, though not, I hasten to add, in the same class as my dad’s voice. She played the piano well and tutored me in that too. But, she was always there, until long after I had left home and I know she made my mother very unhappy.

			I suspect that my mother always wanted a girl. At Christmas in the hotel in the first two years after the war, when I was seven and eight, my mum and my dad would organise a dinner dance and I was to wait at the tables – as a waitress! My mum dressed me up in a black satin frock, make-up was applied, a white apron and hat added, and I was unveiled as the star attraction. God knows what the guests thought, but my mum was very proud of me and I was very happy as the new waitress. There were two other girls who worked at the hotel as waitresses and chambermaids, Joyce Maughan and her friend, Jean, who both came from Spennymoor in County Durham. They were always kind to me, and at the time can only have been teenagers themselves. Joyce still keeps in touch to this day – she lives near Colchester and visits me once a year. Until my mum and dad died, she was always keen to have whatever news of them I could give. Now it is all about reminiscence, and I have never been a great one for nostalgia. Writing this book is the first time I have really addressed my past, and it is extraordinary how memories and events and people come crowding back from whichever corners of the mind they have been resting.

			Although I saw little of my dad, I remember him always at Christmas times. When he couldn’t buy toys, he would make them, rather well. When I was four he had made me a big engine on wheels in which I could sit. It was the envy of the two or three local children with whom I played. Goodness knows how he found the time to make it. On occasion I would go to Preston with him to his shop. It was on the first floor of a building in Guildhall Street, and I found plenty with which to amuse myself. When I was very small I would get great pleasure from playing with the boxes of buttons, and watching the comings and goings of the green delivery vans to the DCL depot across the street. Funnily enough the Distiller’s Company Limited was where my cousin David, Uncle Alan’s son, was to become the head of the legal department in later years, defending the indefensible, Thalidomide!

			By 1948, the hotel partnership was falling apart, and I never discovered quite why. At the same time, the first of the multiple chain bespoke tailors, The 50 Shilling Tailors (later to become Burtons) was appearing on the northern high streets. My dad realised that he was not going to be able to compete. I think this was when he made his first major mistake. I think he ought to have gone to that chain of shops and offered himself in a managerial capacity. He was an excellent tailor, and my clothes, and my mother’s, were always beautifully made. His cutters and finishers were amongst the best, and I believe he would have risen fast in a big organisation. But dad was always his own boss and wasn’t prepared to become an employee.

			Dad sold the hotel in 1948 and we moved into a dark rented flat not far from Squires Gate. He was still commuting to Preston, but he had correctly seen that the writing was on the wall for the small, bespoke tailor and he began to look for some other work. It took him some time to find the right place and in the meantime we moved to an airy flat on the first floor of a large house on Lytham Road, within walking distance of Arnold Junior School. 

			That autumn term was when I discovered acting. When I was nine and a half Mr Beech and Miss Lamb organised the junior school play. It was The Pied Piper of Hamelin and I was cast as the Pied Piper. Let’s face it, the title role can’t be bad. I took to it like a duck to water. In fact I had always had a bent for performing – since I was five I had done radio plays for my granny from behind the sofa and had made up plays that I performed on an old toy theatre that had been my dad’s. It had always been fascinating to me, so doing the school play was the natural progression. It was a great success. I loved it. Whilst still at the junior school I had two more leading roles to play, Robin Hood the following year, and in my last year, Alan Breck in Kidnapped. I’d got the bug.

			 I was coming up to 10 years old when we had a wonderful Christmas to remember. We went to the Windermere Hydro Hotel. It was four days of absolute joy. There were lots of families staying there, and that meant lots of children. The hotel organised wonderful parties every day; there were treasure hunts and brilliant games of hide and seek. I think I appreciated good food and good living from that one short holiday. There were dinner dances for the adults and fancy dress competitions for everyone. I won the major competition as Bonnie Prince Charlie – we had gone to a theatrical costumier in Cleveleys before leaving home, and I can remember posturing around the place in a fabulous Stuart dress tartan, complete with an ornamental dirk in my sock. Mum and dad had gone to the party as Gypsies, and they won as well – a triumph for the Purves clan.

			It is amazing what one forgets. I had a friend at junior school called Alec Monroe. His dad was a professional footballer – he played full-back for Blackpool in the Cup final they lost to Manchester United in 1948. I remember listening to the match with Joyce in the hotel kitchen and her weeping when the final whistle went and we had lost. I liked football and would play sometimes in the ornamental gardens with some friends and a lovely man who owned a hotel about seven along from ours. His hotel was The Romford, and he was quite a good player I believe – Stanley Matthews was his name! Unfortunately none of his magic rubbed off on me. One more footballer I must mention is George Eastham – he was two years older than me but we played occasionally, we’d walk to school together and often listen to Dick Barton on the radio. Like Blue Peter for later generations, that was a show not to be missed. A few years later George made history by driving a coach and horses through the FA’s retain and transfer system that was blocking him from moving from Newcastle United to Arsenal. 

			Also when I was nine, mum, dad and I (and grandmother too) went to London. Amongst other things I was taken to see Oklahoma on stage, and The Crazy Gang at the Victoria Palace. These shows just reinforced my love of the theatre, but even more spectacular was the fact that my Uncle Douglas, whom we visited in Croydon, had a producer friend at the BBC who had been the producer of the now defunct Dick Barton but was now producing its replacement show, Adventure Unlimited. Actually the show wasn’t as good as its predecessor, but I was taken to the BBC in Portland Place and allowed to watch a recording of an episode. It was magical. Afterwards we all adjourned to The George, then, as now, the favoured watering hole of the BBC. I had to sit in a back room – children weren’t allowed in the public rooms, of course, and I was asked what I would like to drink. “Dandelion and Burdock” I said, which produced guffaws from everyone. It wasn’t a drink they’d heard of in’t south! I can remember my disappointment that mum and dad joined in with the amusement and didn’t stick up for me. But the substitute lemonade went down well. 

			London also had Hamleys toyshop, which at that time had a model railway layout running around a central circular staircase. It was without doubt the best thing I’d ever seen. And that love of model railways has always stayed with me, though I haven’t had a model layout for almost 30 years now. 

			Arnold School gave out fortnightly reports on its pupils, which we had to take home for our parents’ signature. The report commented on our prowess in Arithmetic, English, French, Geography, History, Reading and Spelling. We were given marks and a position in the form. My reports always said I could do much better, and invariably I was bottom of the class. I can remember my dad saying to me that the report was terrible and that if I became top of the class he would buy me an electric train set. He must have thought he was onto a pretty safe bet. But, the following fortnight I was top of the class, a position I continued to hold until I moved up into the senior school. The train set was a Trix Twin Railway, which was the first electric train set that allowed you to run two trains independently on the same track. It was the envy of all my friends. Now, I hear you ask, how did it happen that one fortnight I could be a duffer and the next a genius? Easy. Until then I couldn’t see the point in schoolwork. But the incentive of the train set, bribery if you like, was enough to start me working. 

			But all good things come to an end, though I didn’t realise it at the time. Dad had found his next project. He decided to buy a country pub in Derbyshire, and I went to boarding school.

		

	


	
		
			Chapter Two

			Boarding school and disillusion;

			Holidays in the Peak District and North Wales;

			Blackpool Illuminations restored;

			I start to get cynical

			I had always wanted to be a boarder. The boys in my year who boarded were the most interesting and I wanted to join them. So when it was decided that mum and dad were to move, I was delighted. What fun. Away at school. How good is that? Well it was a damn sight better in prospect than in execution, but at first there was a honeymoon period, and I was excited by it. 

			“Westover” was the senior school headmaster’s house, and there were 12 junior boarders living there. It was spartan compared with home, linoleum floors and threadbare bedside rugs. I shared a small dormitory with two other boys my age, Michael Andrew and David Harbottle. They had been friends since they first came to the school two years earlier and I found it difficult to be friends with them. They had an air of independence about them that I was going to have to learn to absorb myself – at nine I was probably a bit of a mummy’s boy, and to be accepted by them meant I had to toughen up quite a lot. I don’t know how tough I was, but I certainly soon learned to keep my emotions to myself and to try not to show any weakness and a sort of friendship blossomed between the three of us. Michael was the son of a Bury mill owner, and his brother was in the senior school. David’s family came from Poulton-le-Fylde, then a small village just to the northeast of Blackpool. I could never work out why he boarded, as it would have been comparatively easy for him to travel to and from school as a dayboy. I also made friends with a lad called Michael Outhwaite, who was eight months or so younger than I, and a year behind in school. He became a good friend for the next five or six years. His parents were abroad in Bahrain and he saw them very rarely. His contact with the outside world was with two aunts who lived in Anglesey. To me, Bahrain was no further away than Derbyshire! 

			The hardest thing about boarding school is that there is no escape. You live with the people who either rewarded or spoilt your days. By that I mean both staff and pupils. In those days school was strictly regimented – the boarders had to walk in crocodile back from school to Westover under the supervision of a teacher. Once back there was a large room in which we could play until teatime. As at all mealtimes we were reprimanded for not sitting up straight, for putting our elbows on the table, for not holding our knives and forks properly, for chewing with our mouths open and so on. Not that I was reprimanded too often as my parents had already instilled my table manners from a young age. But the threat of disciplinary action was always there. Oh yes, and we weren’t allowed to talk until permission was given, usually after the grace had been said. If we got too noisy, then we were “put on silence” and we soon learned to chat moderately at mealtimes. 

			Arnold School had wonderful playing fields, and after tea, if it was dry, we were allowed to go to the nearest field and play football or cricket. Again a teacher would always be present, Miss Lamb or Miss Butterworth, and they were as kind to us all as they could be, bearing in mind their responsibility for our safety. They were now our substitute parents for two thirds of the year. 

			By the time we were 10, we had to do homework (prep it was called), and so after half an hour or so on the playing fields we would troop back to the house, and sit at the dining room tables and do our work – supervised again by the same teachers. Once a week we had to write a letter home and that was done after the homework session. There was no opportunity to say what one really felt, because the letters had to be taken up to the teacher to read and pass before it could be sent. A minimum of four sides of the school notepaper had to be completed, and anything controversial would have to be rewritten. Hiding your emotions was the only way you could survive boarding school. I kept things to myself, and later, whilst still in the junior school, all I would want to write was “Please can I come home”. But that never got written, we each, in our own way made the best of it and mostly it wasn’t too bad. Normally we would sleep well, but after lights-out we weren’t allowed to speak. There was lots of whispering, but if the duty teacher heard you then you got “the slipper”. At least it wasn’t the cane, but it still hurt through your pyjamas. Actually it depended on who was in charge – we were all terrified of the headmaster, Mr Holgate, and once a week he would do the rounds. The one person you did not want to get caught talking by was the boss. He beat me once when I was 10. I failed to see the point of it all then, and today it would just be considered child abuse. It wasn’t the last beating I had at school. But we now live in a different age.

			Food was another thing. I guess we had adequate rations, but I can remember almost always feeling hungry and there was rarely any of what I would have called “nice” food. Lumpy porridge at breakfast, horrible school dinners that were brought in from outside and tea was bread, margarine, and a not very sweet jam. Sugar, of course, was still rationed in the years immediately after the war. Even at weekends there was no escape. We were allowed to go out for the weekend with parents, and many of the children did, but Derbyshire was a long way away, and my parents only saw me at half-term and during the holidays. Often there would only be me and Michael in school for the weekend. At least in the summer we could play cricket together. He was better than I, even though he was younger. Later, in senior school he developed a good talent as a batsman, and even had a trial after he left school for Lancashire but he didn’t like it. Actually I’d lost touch with him by then, but years later in the 80’s I met him again in Rugby, where he was secretary of the rugby club. I played golf a few times with him, and he was still better than I. He was unchanged from the boy I’d known, and I was sad to hear of his death, at a youngish age, from cancer in the 90’s.

			As boarders we did have the advantage of having lots of playmates so we played lots of games and I was quite good at most of them. We would play British Bulldog in the school playground, where the aim is for one person to stop another in the mob from crossing from one side to the other. Having caught one, the two would then try to stop another one or more. Gradually the group in the middle gets bigger, until the entire class is trying to stop the one remaining boy from crossing. I was horrified recently to hear that games like that are now banned in schools. For goodness sake what a lot of cissies we are breeding. I liked the idea of football, but my execution was hopeless. I didn’t kick a ball all that well, but I was quite brave as a goalkeeper. As I was tall for my age it was the ideal position for me, and eventually I was selected for the junior school team. I certainly wasn’t the best! My mother told me years later that she came to watch a soccer match we were playing, and I was the team captain. The headmaster’s wife, Mrs Holgate, was watching also. “There he is, your boy,” she said. “The bossy one.” And I probably was! 

			The first summer holiday after I started boarding I went home for the first time, and found that I had a dog. Rusty was an all black Cocker Spaniel, with a rust coloured muzzle. I absolutely loved him and we spent hours together in the hills and woods. I had no idea at the time that dogs would play such a big part in my life in later years. The Yorkshire Bridge Inn was in one of the most beautiful parts of the country, in the north of the Peak District and close to the trio of enormous reservoirs in the Derwent Valley. Two of the reservoirs, Derwent and Howden had been used for the Dam Busters’ training during the war just ended, and the third and largest, Ladybower had only recently been finished. The pub stood half a mile from the dam wall, and on the hillside below were four terraces of houses built for the workers who had built this most spectacular feat of engineering. It was a famous place also because for the valley to be flooded it had meant the sacrifice of two villages, Derwent and Ladybower. In the height of summer, when near drought conditions occurred, it was possible to see the ruins of the villages, and if the mud baked hard, you could walk out to them, which on a couple of occasions out with Rusty I did. Earlier the Derwent village church spire had to be demolished because people tried to get out to it, and it was considered dangerous. It was a great place to grow up. There were lots of children my age in the workers’ houses, and I soon made friends with them and we would play great games on the near hillsides, which had super woodland and a small waterfall. But the most exciting place was the river, which carried the overflow and controlled discharge from the reservoir. About a quarter of a mile from the huge banked wall there was a weigh point. This consisted of a small concrete island in the middle of the river, with stainless steel plates fitted between there and the banks, which also had precise concrete sections. The water was channelled over these two plates and its rate of flow was measured by the plates and recorded somewhere or other. Naturally the water flow was quite fast, and our favourite game in the summer was to jump the stream across to the island. If you didn’t make it, you would slip into the fast water and be carried downstream towards the waterfall, but you never reached that because the flow became much less fierce when you were back in the natural river. Mostly we made it, but on a hot day, we just let ourselves splash in the water anyway. That first summer made me realise how much I didn’t want to go back to school. There was everything at home, safe bike riding, lots of fun to be had, and occasionally my mum would take me over to Sheffield on the bus that used our pub car park as its Bamford terminus. It was only a 12 mile trip but it was a lovely journey over the hills. It also meant that I got to go to the News Theatre – these were picture houses that ran an hour-long programme of short films, newsreels, cartoons and an adventure serial. It was there that I first saw Superman and Captain Marvel – each episode was about 10 minutes long and always ended with a cliffhanger so you had to go the next week to see what happened. Brilliant stuff in an age when TV had only just started and hardly anyone had a set. Actually my Uncle Douglas had the first I ever saw – it was a 12 inch screen that had a large magnifying glass in front of it. The picture was terrible but it was new technology, and I was reliably informed that it was the way things were going! That was 1949, and I was 10.

			That same summer holiday, we went on holiday as a family, and I was asked if I’d like to take a friend with us. My granny had gone to stay for two weeks with her daughter, my Auntie Doff, in London, so I think my mum and dad wanted to take advantage of that freedom. The pub was left in the hands of our barman, Bob Gracy and his wife, and off we went in dad’s latest car, a 1938 Morris 10. I took Michael Outhwaite with us – his parents weren’t back in the country – and we went to North Wales, first stop Rhyl, where we stayed at the, supposedly, best hotel in town. Now I can remember that it poured down, and Rhyl on a stormy wet day is not Blackpool. There seemed to be very little to do, and the first two days were rotten. The only highlight was on the second morning at breakfast. My mum had ordered bacon and eggs (still a luxury after the war) and when it arrived and the waitress took off the cover, she just burst out laughing. The bacon was the smallest, most shrivelled up bit of meat you can imagine. I remember it so well, because the laughter soon turned hysterical, and she just couldn’t stop, tears were pouring down her cheeks. I was initially embarrassed because people were taking notice, but in the end all of us were laughing fit to burst. The headwaiter sheepishly approached and asked if he could help, then saw the plate of food and quickly picked it up and raced off to the kitchen. Mum had only just stopped laughing when a fresh plate, this time with a nice neat portion of bacon and eggs on it, was brought back to her with quietly whispered apologies.

			Dad decided we should check out and find somewhere else. As we left Rhyl the clouds lifted, and we found a small hostelry in a village called Tal-y-Cafn, where we stayed for the remainder of our holiday and the summer weather was glorious. There was a railway station near the hotel, and I found that fascinating because it was a single track railway. The drivers had to collect a baton, signifying there was no other train on the track before they could proceed. We also went over to Anglesey, and stopped at a small bay with golden sands. Michael and I waded out more than half a mile in search of deep enough water in which to swim but it stayed shallow and I suspect we could almost have walked to Ireland! We went to Caernarfon Castle, Snowdon, Llandudno, Conway and Colwyn Bay. It was an unforgettable holiday.

			Holidays end, terms begin, and I was packed off back to Blackpool. Actually I was driven to Manchester and then put on the train with several other boys who were returning to school, and supervised by a returning teacher. The train journey was always quite fun – I do have quite a passion for trains, which I was able to enjoy to the full during my years with Blue Peter in the 60’s and 70’s. The trains were sometimes pulled by engines in the lovely maroon livery of the LMS; this was just before the nationalisation of the railways when everything turned to an uninteresting black. The carriages were maroon as well, and I always thought they looked so smart. The interiors were less than luxurious, however, and if my memory serves me right, there was no corridor. The more senior boys had a separate compartment, and no teacher, and where, I later discovered, they would smoke!! Blackpool South station was only about four tram stops along Lytham Road from school, and all too soon we were back in our prison – a reasonably liberal one, but a prison nonetheless. 

			One thing I really enjoyed at that time was being in the cubs. I had joined when I was nine; before I first became a boarder and by the time I got to 11 one of the arms of my cub jersey was full of badges with a couple on the other. They meant I could lay a fire, tidy a room, tie knots, do some gym, play games and so on. There was great rivalry between Michael Andrew, whose badges annoyingly covered both arms, David Harbottle and I. We were all sixers, which meant that we were the leaders of six other younger cubs, and we took great pride in winning various games and competitions. School was competitive and boarding school more so. The school had a house system – Romans, Greeks, Celts etc., and a few years later when we were getting on in senior school, the house system changed so that one house was for boarders only – School House. The other houses were based on where one lived in the wards of Blackpool. Needless to say, School House rapidly developed a passion all its own, the boarders bonded, and won almost every inter-house competition. But that was some years away.

			One of the most interesting things I remember whilst still at junior school was the first time that the Blackpool Illuminations were re-instated. They had obviously been suspended during the war and it was only in 1950 that they started again. The school arranged for three charabancs to take the entire boarding school round the exhibits. Blackpool became a one-way street for the length of the promenade from Squires Gate to Cleveleys and we all marvelled at the display as we travelled along at a sedate 10mph. The Big Dipper at the Pleasure Beach had lights all over it, (though I must admit it looked even more impressive from our dormitory window as it burned down a couple of years later) and the tower was lit from the flagpole at its tip all the way to the ground. The piers looked wonderful and, as no doubt the council hoped, the crowds came in their thousands. We had never seen such lights before – on reflection they were dreadfully gaudy, and had little artistic merit, but we were enthralled. In fact the illuminations meant that the holiday season in Blackpool was extended by several weeks, giving the town the edge over its rivals. At this time the mill towns of Lancashire were still flourishing and the Wakes Weeks, as their annual holidays were called, made Blackpool the biggest and best resort in the country. Not only the Mill towns, but Glasgow and Liverpool also had their Wakes, when thousands from those cities would flock to the seaside. This was long before people could holiday abroad on package deals, and Blackpool was to remain at the forefront of the holiday industry for another 15 years or so.

			The school had few facilities other than its extensive playing fields, but it arranged for weekly swimming lessons. We’d board a coach outside the gates and be driven to the great Derby Baths, sadly only a memory these days. This was an Olympic size indoor pool, with additional learning pools under the same roof. Being able to swim was one of the few treats we had, even though the visits were short. The main pool was flanked with theatre-style seating, and must have accommodated several thousand spectators. Naturally enough they occasionally held “water shows” and I was lucky enough to see the great Johnny Weissmuller perform there. He, of course, was the original Tarzan in the movies, and had been an Olympian for the USA. If anything, seeing him was my inspiration to be a better swimmer.

			Although, as juniors, we had little to do with him, except acknowledging that he was “the boss”, Mr Holgate was always a looming presence. The ultimate disciplinarian from the old school he was quite an awesome figure. Tall, with a military style moustache and thinning hair, he would sweep around the place during the day with his black gown flying bat like behind him, and often, when not teaching, with his black Labrador dog, Nigger (how times change), at heel beside him. We all made ourselves as insignificant as possible when he was near.

			Arnold School had an excellent Cadet Corps. It was called a Combined Cadet Force, though in fact it was solely for Army Cadets, affiliated to The Loyal Regiment. In the senior school from the age of 13 it was compulsory to be a member, but as juniors, the cubs took part in the Corps’ annual parade to the cenotaph on the nearest Sunday to November 11th. A baton twirling drum major and the cadet bugle band led the parade. The Corps followed in several platoons, all drilled to near perfection, and I can remember proudly leading my six in the long march up to the cenotaph, three or four miles away beside the North Pier. We were a very smart group indeed. I like to think we marched with precision, but I suspect the truth was that we were just a cute shambling addition bringing up the rear.

			It was around this time that I began to realise that one’s destiny is in one’s own hands and that you shouldn’t simply trust what people say to you. I rarely got out of school during term, mum and dad lived too far away to come over and take me out at weekends. One week Michael Andrew asked if I’d like to go out with his parents one weekend. Of course I said yes I’d love to. But in the ensuing couple of weeks, I could feel that something was being engineered, and it ended with us falling out on the Friday afternoon, and the offer of the weekend out was withdrawn. I have no recollection of what went wrong, but I’ve always felt it was a deliberate act on Michael’s part. It may be the reason why I have always found it difficult to make friends – trust has to be earned over a long period of time. Having said that, I do take a lot of what is said to me at face value, and consequently am often disillusioned. But I would, even then, describe myself as a cup-half-full sort of person and the close friends I have kept to this day I would trust with my life. I was growing up.

		

	


	
		
			Chapter Three

			Senior school; A bleak existence;

			Sexual awakenings; Some sporting prowess and success;

			The Cadet Corps; Summer camps

			At the age of 11 I won a scholarship to the senior school, and phase three of my life had begun. Suddenly we weren’t the little kids any more, but we were the little ones in the new big pond. There were some 65 boarders at that time, and for the first time most of the disciplinary roles were taken by prefects and monitors. These were made up from the most senior boys, and there was a head boarder, who may even have been the school head boy. We youngsters were in awe of these seniors who we knew were the school representatives on the various sports teams, and we gave them a lot of respect. Arnold did not operate a “fagging” system that seems to have been the norm in most public schools, and senior prefects had been stopped from administering corporal punishment to juniors (usually in the form of a slippering) the year before I went to the senior establishment.

			The school itself was housed in an original Victorian mansion that may or may not have been built as a school, and with numerous extensions that were added from the 1920’s onwards. It was a red brick affair with big bay windows at the front, and during my time there, a whole new extension was built to the rear housing new science laboratories and other classrooms. Again, for the boarders, it was spartan. There was a lounge for us to use with an old radiogram (for the uninitiated that was a radio and gramophone combined), a long upholstered (in leatherette) window seat that spanned the huge bay window overlooking the tramway on Lytham Road, and two other lightly and uncomfortably upholstered bench seats. Two long tables could serve as desks and were used primarily by the prefects for doing their prep and other private study work. There was a half-size billiard table, which could be turned over to provide an ordinary table, and, basically, that was it. Every morning we were required to assemble in this room for inspection after breakfast and before going to school. This entailed a teacher examining our hands and nails, and shoes, and our school uniform. This was a green blazer with the school badge on the breast pocket, grey shorts or full-length flannel trousers, black shoes and grey socks, and a grey shirt and school tie. It was all very formal, and punishable with detentions or lines for being under the standard.

			In addition, the school uniform included a cap that had to be worn at all times when off the school premises, and even the dayboys had to wear it on the way to and from school. Should a member of staff, or a parent known to you, be seen you had to raise your cap, and you would be reported to the school for failing to do so. Suitable punishments would be applied to those who were caught. The ramifications of this were that the boys were known locally as the Arnold Snobs. No other school in the close vicinity had a uniform and so we always stood out. I think the intention was that Arnold would always be the smartest school in the area, and to a degree, I think it succeeded in that aim. This applied even to the most senior boys; monitors wearing a cap that had a silver ring round it, and the prefects had an even more elaborately designed affair that looked rather like a large Maltese Cross on its top. That was something to aspire to. In fact everything seemed to be designed to make us want to achieve something. For example, much praise would be given at the morning assembly, to boys who excelled in a sporting event – scored 50 for the 1st cricket XI, or scored a hat-trick for the hockey team, or whatever. Competition was what the school had and would thrive at. 

			The school assembly hall was actually a very large classroom that had a dividing partition with another classroom making it an L-shaped room. This room was where most of us would spend our time. It had old-fashioned desks that sat two and some bench seats along its walls. It also had a raised stage on which was sited an old, foot-pump organ, at one end, and a row of chairs across the back, with a special large chair in the centre, behind a highly polished table. A lectern stood in the corner nearest to the organ, and a small set of steps led up from the body of the hall. I spent half an hour every morning for seven years in that hall as Mr Holgate solemnly led morning assembly. I think I was already at 11 beginning to feel the seeds of atheism creeping into my head. I found the whole process false and unbelievable. Add this to the fact that we went to a compulsory church service at the nearest church every Sunday morning (walking there in a supervised crocodile of course) and you can see that I felt religion was being pushed down my throat. It took years for me to fully understand those feelings, but eventually I became a confirmed atheist. Actually I had been brought up as a Methodist, insofar as my family were all Methodists. In fact only my grandmother actively went to chapel, where surprisingly the Arnold School RE teacher was the minister. Joe Brice was a lovely man, and I enjoyed watching him in church before I became a boarder, when I was really small, and he was a good teacher. He was a freethinker, and he didn’t force the issue at all. He read us the bible and we discussed things with him, and many years later when my mother died from stomach cancer, he was a man with whom I had a considerable amount of correspondence. He had retired to Wells-Next-The-Sea in Norfolk, and he understood my rejection of his beliefs. I liked the man immensely, one of only three teachers with whom I had a genuine rapport. 
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